1999

Justin F. Pavoni and Kimberly A. Pavoni v. C. Michael Nielsen and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case is on appeal from a final order entered on January 27, 1999, by Judge Patricia B. Brinn of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Summit County, State of Utah. Jurisdiction of this Court is appropriate pursuant to Utah Constitution art. VIII, sec. 3, and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2 (1998).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the trial court err in directing a verdict against plaintiffs' indemnification claims on the basis of its belief that there was no evidence of damages, where the trial court failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, overlooked evidence in the record of various unreimbursed expenses and losses covered by the Indemnification Agreement and mistakenly focused instead on plaintiffs' profit on the sale of the underlying real property which in no way redressed the unreimbursed losses for which plaintiffs were indemnified and entitled to recover?

Standard of Review:

"[O]n appeal from a directed verdict, we must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgment in favor of the losing party, the directed verdict cannot be sustained." Gouldin v. Sharon's Cultural Educ. Recreational Assoc., 845 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1992) (quoting Management Comm. v. Graystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896-898 (Utah 1982)).

2. Did the trial court err in directing a verdict and dismissing plaintiffs' indemnification claims on the grounds that plaintiffs allegedly did not introduce evidence of actual damages, where defendant's breach of the Indemnification Agreement in itself entitled plaintiffs to recover nominal damages?

Standard of Review:

"[O]n appeal from a directed verdict, 'we must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgment in favor of the losing party, the directed verdict cannot be sustained.'" Gourdin v. Sharon's Cultural Educ. Recreational Assoc., 845 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1992) (quoting Management Comm. v. Graystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896, 898 (Utah 1982)).

3. Did the trial court err in directing a verdict and dismissing plaintiffs' claims of breach of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement by failing to find that defendant's promises contained therein to make various improvements to the property after closing were promises collateral to the contract of sale, and thus, were not extinguished by the merger doctrine nor by the Agreement's abrogation clause?

Standard of Review:

"[O]n appeal from a directed verdict, 'we must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgment in favor of the losing party,

the directed verdict cannot be sustained.” Gouldin v. Sharon’s Cultural Educ. Recreational Assoc., 845 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1992) (quoting Management Comm. v. Graystone Pines, 652 P.2d 896, 898 (Utah 1982)).

4 In light of the trial court’s improper grant of directed verdict, did the trial court also err in awarding attorneys fees to defendant?

Standard of Review:

Whether attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law, which we review for correctness.” Valcarice v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 315 (Utah 1998). See also Robertson v. Gem Ins. Co., 828 P.2d 496, 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court should reverse the trial court’s decision to grant a directed verdict, vacate its award of attorney’s fees to defendant C. Michael Nielsen (“Nielsen”) and remand this case for further proceedings. This case involves Nielsen’s failure to fulfill promises and obligations contained within an Earnest Money Sales Agreement and Indemnification Agreement.

This case arose out of Nielsen’s sale to Justin and Kimberly Pavoni (the “Pavonis”) of a 20-acre parcel of property in the Red Hawk Subdivision in Park City, Utah (hereinafter the “property”) (R. at 916-921, 948, Trial Tr. pp. 77-78, 97-98, 206, Pl.’s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A, Def.’s Trial Ex. 6.) The property was an ideal site for the Pavoni’s dream home, and the

Pavonis bargained with Nielsen and agreed in writing as part of the purchase agreement that they would be able to build their home at a specifically identified prime location on the 20-acre parcel. (R. at 917-19, 1000-01; Trial Tr., pp 81-92, 413-418; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.) Nielsen sold the property and the Pavonis agreed to buy it with the understanding that there would be nothing that would interfere with their planned home site and use of the property. (R. at 920-21, 943-44, 1001; Trial Tr., pp. 93-98, 186-88, 417.)

Shortly before closing, however, Nielsen advised the Pavonis for the first time that neighboring property owners (the Calls) were claiming a right of way easement over the Pavoni's property. (R. at 920; Trial Tr., pp. 93-94.) Nielsen knew, and had known for some time, that the claimed easement went through the Pavoni's planned home site, but he did not disclose this to the Pavonis. (R. at 920, 975; Trial Tr., pp. 96, 314-15). Instead, Nielsen minimized the issue and told the Pavonis that the Call easement would not be a problem, because he would take care of the situation. (R. at 920, 944, 1001; Trial Tr., pp. 94, 188, 417.) Nielsen gave the Pavonis an Indemnification Agreement promising to defend and indemnify them against all losses and damages of any sort whatsoever that might arise out of the Calls' claim to an easement over the Pavoni's property. (R. at 920-21, 943-44, 1001-03; Trial Tr., pp. 187-90, 341-42, 390-391, 416-427; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 4.)

Based on Nielsen's representations and the promises contained in the purchase and indemnification agreements, the Pavonis purchased the property for \$115,000 in July 1992. (R. at 921, 1001; Trial Tr., pp. 98-99, 416-17.) In the ensuing two-years, in preparation for ultimately building their home on the property, the Pavonis made many improvements to the

20-acre parcel, greatly increasing its value. (R. at 923-24, 930-31, 933-37, 963; Trial Tr., pp. 106-12, 133-38, 146-63, 264; Pl's Trial Exs. 22, 23, 24, 25, 29.) In the meantime, the value of property in this subdivision also escalated generally. (R. at 977; Trial Tr., p. 323.)

After the Pavonis purchased the property, Nielsen--instead of resolving the Calls' claim of an easement in favor of the Pavonis by extinguishing any claim of an easement over the property--settled the Call litigation in July 1994 and granted the Calls an easement affecting up to 2 acres of the Pavoni's 20-acre plot. (R. at 6, 925, 927, 929, 996-97; Trial Tr., pp. 113-14, 121-22, 130-31, 396-99; Def.'s Trial Ex. 9.) Most egregiously, the Call easement went directly through the Pavoni's planned home site. (Id.) Nielsen admitted at trial that the Pavoni's property burdened with an easement was obviously worth less than the Pavoni's property without an easement. (R. at 974, 977-78; Trial Tr., pp. 309-11, 321-27.) Nielsen estimated the minimum reduction in value to be at least "a couple of thousand dollars." (R. at 981; Trial Tr., p. 336.) Nielsen's conservative estimate--which itself concedes that the Pavonis were damaged--does not account for the fact that the Pavonis were prevented from building their home at the location they selected.

Faced with the imposition of an easement on the property running through their agreed upon home site, the Pavonis decided, in September 1994, to sell the property and attempt to recover their losses and damages caused by Nielsen. (R. at 963; Trial Tr., pp. 266-67.) Reflecting the improvements that the Pavonis made to the property and the generally escalating land prices, the property was eventually appraised at \$285,000. (R. at 963; Trial Tr., p. 266.) The Pavonis were ultimately able to sell the property for \$282,500, or \$2,500

less than the appraised value. (R. at 963; Trial Tr., pp. 266-67.) The Pavonis were never repaid for the diminution in value, nor were they repaid for the costs of architectural plans that they had paid to layout the planned home site on the property, nor for all of the attorney's fees that they had incurred in attempting to defend against the Call litigation and resulting easement. (R. at 921-22, 930, 940-41; Trial Tr., pp. 100-02, 172-77; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 35A & 35B.)

In addition, Nielsen did not fulfill his obligations contained within the Earnest Money Sales Agreement, including his promise to install a gravel driveway and widen the driveway. (R. at 921, 923, 930, 966; Trial Tr., pp. 100, 106-08, 133-35, 279; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.) Specifically, the Earnest Money Sales Agreement provided, inter alia, that Nielsen would install additional three-inch gravel from the driveway entrance to twenty feet beyond the western-most boundary of the Pavoni's selected home site within one hundred twenty days after the closing date. (R. at 919, 923, 966; Trial Tr., pp. 90-91, 106, 279; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.) Nielsen failed to install the above-described gravel road as promised, and ten months after the road was supposed to have been completed, the Pavonis paid approximately \$4,500 to have it installed. (R. at 921, 923, 930; Trial Tr., pp. 100, 106-08, 133-35; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 7.) The Pavonis asked Nielsen to reimburse them for the cost of installing the gravel road, but Nielsen refused to pay. The Earnest Money Sales Agreement also provided that Nielsen would widen and straighten the driveway entrance. (R. at 924, 966; Trial Tr., pp. 110, 279; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.) Nielsen did not widen or straighten the driveway entrance to the property as promised. (R. at 924; Trial Tr., p. 110.)

Therefore, the Pavonis filed suit against Nielsen seeking to recover for breach of these agreements, and also seeking recovery against Nielsen for fraudulent misrepresentations. (R. at 1-32) At trial, despite evidence of Nielsen's breach and the damages related thereto, including Nielsen's own admission of a diminution in the property's value as a result of the Call easement, the trial court directed a verdict against the Pavonis on the Indemnification Agreement, finding that because they had made a profit on the sale of the property, they were not entitled to recovery. (R. at 610-15, 1011; Trial Tr., pp. 458-59.) The trial court overlooked the fact that the Call easement had diminished the property's value (R. at 974, 977-78; Trial Tr., pp. 309-11, 321-27), and also overlooked proof that the Pavonis had not been repaid for the various costs that they had incurred for architectural plans and attorney's fees that went for naught in light of Nielsen's resolution of the Call litigation. (R. at 921-22, 930, 940-41; Trial Tr., pp. 100-01, 172-77; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 35A & 35B.)

In addition, the trial court directed a verdict and dismissed the Pavoni's claims under the Earnest Money Sales Agreement, finding that all promises and undertakings of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement had merged into the deed of conveyance and been extinguished. (R. at 610-15, 1008; Trial Tr., pp. 444-47.) In doing so, the trial court overlooked the fact that the Pavonis sought to enforce promises in the Earnest Money Sales Agreement that were collateral to and that were to be honored after the date of conveyance, and thus, were not extinguished by the conveyance itself. The trial court also ordered the Pavonis to pay Nielsen's attorney's fees because the Indemnification Agreement included within it a "prevailing party" clause. (R. at 790-95.)

After the Court entered an order formalizing its directed verdict rulings and findings and entitlement to attorney's fees in favor of Nielsen, the Pavonis timely filed this appeal. (R. at 822-24.) Subsequently, the trial court entered an order reflecting the amount of attorney's fees to be \$48,267.25. (Addendum at 10) The Pavonis have also appealed that order and have moved to consolidate the two appeals and address the common issues in this single brief. (Addendum at 11, 14, 15)

II. SUMMARY OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On January 23, 1995, the Pavonis sued Nielsen for (1) breach of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement; (2) breach of the Pavoni Indemnity Agreement; (3) fraud; and (4) an accounting of monies paid to the Red Hawk Home Owner's Association. (R. at 1-32.) The Pavonis filed an Amended Complaint and Jury Demand on September 16, 1996. (R. at 72-105.) The case was tried before a jury on September 1 and 3, 1998. (R. at 897-1013.) At the conclusion of the Pavoni's case, Judge Brian granted Nielsen's motion for directed verdict and dismissed all of the Pavoni's claims, except the fraud claim. (R. at 610-15, 1008-11; Trial Tr., pp. 444-59.) The fraud claim was presented to the jury, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Nielsen. (R. at 555-56.)

On January 28, 1999, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, wherein the court memorialized its decision to dismiss the Pavoni's claims for breach of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement and Indemnity Agreement and also

awarded Nielsen his attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the Indemnity Agreement.¹ (R. at 790-95.) The Pavonis filed the instant appeal on February 26, 1999. (R. at 822-24.) On April 27, 1999, the trial court issued a judgment, wherein the court awarded plaintiffs \$48,767.25 in attorney's fees and costs. (Addendum at 12) The Judgment, dated April 28, 1999, contained a clerical error as it awarded attorney's fees and costs to plaintiffs, instead of defendant. (Id.) By stipulation, this Judgment was amended on May 24, 1999, to reflect the actual ruling of the trial court. (Addendum at 13) On June 1, 1999, the Pavonis filed a second Notice of Appeal. (Addendum at 14) On June 18, 1999, the parties moved to consolidate the two appeals for purposes of briefing, oral argument and decision. (Addendum at 15) The Pavonis seek to reverse the trial court's decision to grant Nielsen's motion for directed verdict and vacate its award of attorney's fees and costs to Nielsen.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. On or about March 31, 1992, the Pavonis executed an Earnest Money Sales Agreement with Nielsen for the purchase of real property located in the Red Hawk Subdivision, Phase I, and described as Lot No. 3 (hereinafter the "property"). (R. at 916; Trial Tr., p. 77; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 1.)

2. The Pavonis communicated to Nielsen their desire to build on a specific site within the property and were adamant about the location of the house on the property. The

¹ The January 28, 1999 Order did not specify the amount of attorney's fees and costs awarded to Nielsen. On October 21, 1998, a hearing was held to allow the parties to present their arguments with respect to the reasonableness and apportionment of attorney's fees. (R. at 837-68.)

Pavonis clearly communicated to Nielsen that they had no interest in the property unless they could build on the specific site. (R. at 917-19, 966, 1000; Trial Tr., pp. 81-90, 277-78, 413-15.)

3. The Pavonis also communicated to Nielsen that they wanted to build on this precise area of the property because it offered an excellent view, privacy, and protection from the elements. (R. at 917, 1000-01; Trial Tr., pp. 82, 413-15.)

4. To ensure that they would be able to build on their desired site, the Pavonis included Paragraph 8 of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement, which specifically states that the transaction is expressly contingent upon “written acceptance, from the Seller, of the Buyer’s proposed overall site plan.” (Pl.’s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.)

5. On or about May 30, 1992, the Pavonis showed Nielsen their desired building site, and he assured them that they would be able to build on site. (R. at 916-19; Trial Tr., pp. 81-90.) This was memorialized in paragraph 8 of the June 3, 1992 Addendum to the Earnest Money Sales Agreement. (R. at 919; Trial Tr., p. 89; Pl.’s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.)

6. Just prior to closing, Nielsen notified the Pavonis that a Lis Pendens had been placed on the property by J. Allen and Margaret Call, whereby the Calls sought a right-of-way easement over the property. (R. at 920; Trial Tr., p. 93; Pl.’s Trial Ex. 3.)

7. Nielsen represented to the Pavonis that the Call lawsuit had been commenced against himself and other owners of Red Hawk. (R. at 920; Trial Tr., pp. 93-94.)

8. Nielsen further represented that the Calls’ claims of right-of-way easement over the property would not present a problem for the Pavonis because Nielsen would

construct another road to satisfy the Calls' right-of-way claim. (R. at 920, 983, 994, 1002-03; Trial Tr., pp. 93-94, 347-48, 423-26; Pl.'s Ex. 38.)

9. Nielsen repeatedly and consistently represented to the Pavonis that the Calls' claim would not interfere with the Pavoni's desired building site. (R. at 920-21, 943-44, 1001; Trial Tr., pp. 96-98, 187-88, 417.)

10. In July of 1992, Nielsen and the Pavonis entered into an agreement whereby Nielsen agreed to, among other things, defend and indemnify the Pavonis "from and against any and all claims, demands, damages, losses, liens, liabilities, penalties, fines, costs and expenses (including attorney's fees), if any, arising directly or indirectly from or out of" the Call lawsuit (hereinafter the "Indemnification Agreement"). (R. at 920; Trial Tr., pp. 94-95; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 4.)

11. In reliance upon Nielsen's representations that the Pavonis would have the unqualified ability to build on their desired site and that Nielsen would fully redress any adverse impact the Call lawsuit might have on them, on or about July 10, 1992, the Pavonis executed the necessary documents to close the sale/purchase of the property. (R. at 921, 1001; Trial Tr., pp. 99, 417.)

12. The Pavonis purchased the property for One Hundred Fifteen Thousand Dollars (\$115,000). (R. at 948; Trial Tr., pp. 206-07; Def.'s Trial Ex 6.)

13. By check dated July 28, 1994, Nielsen paid the Pavonis Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000) for legal fees resulting from the Call lawsuit as required by the Indemnification Agreement. (R. at 930, 994; Trial Tr., pp. 132, 388; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 6.)

14. In connection with paying the Pavonis Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000), Nielsen wrote Mr. Pavoni a note stating that he was not aware of the exact amount of attorney's fees incurred by the Pavonis, and inviting the Pavonis to contact him if the fees exceeded \$2,000. (Pl.'s Trial Ex. 6.)

15. The Pavonis incurred legal fees in excess of \$2,000 as a result of the Call litigation. (R. at 930, 940-41; Trial Tr., pp. 132-35; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 35A & 35B.)

16. The Pavonis demanded that Nielsen reimburse them for the legal fees incurred as a result of the Call litigation. (R. at 994; Trial Tr., p. 391; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 17.)

17. Nielsen did not reimburse the Pavonis for legal fees in excess of \$2,000 incurred as a result of the Call litigation. (R. at 26, 29, 97-98.)

18. The Addendum dated June 3, 1992 to the Earnest Money Sales Agreement provided in paragraph 9 that Nielsen would install additional three-inch gravel from the driveway entrance on the property to a point twenty feet beyond the Western-most boundary of the Pavoni's selected home site within one hundred twenty days from the closing date. (R. at 919, 923, 966; Trial Tr., pp. 90-91, 106, 279; Pl.'s Trial Exs. 1 & 1A.)

19. Nielsen failed to install the above-described gravel road as promised, and ten months after the road was supposed to have been completed, the Pavonis had it installed at their own expense in the amount of approximately Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$4,500). (R. at 921, 923, 930; Trial Tr., pp. 100, 102-03, 133-35; Pl.'s Trial Ex. 7.)

20. The Pavonis made demand on Nielsen for the amount it took to have the gravel road installed, and Nielsen refused to pay. (R. at 27-28.)

21 The Addendum dated June 3, 1992 to the Earnest Money Sales Agreement provided in paragraph 9 that Nielsen would widen and straighten the driveway entrance, as he had previously promised the Pavonis on or about May 30, 1992 (R at 924, 966, Trial Tr pp 109-10, 279, Pl 's Trial Exs 1 & 1A)

22 Nielsen did not widen or straighten the driveway entrance to the Property (R at 924, Trial Tr , p 110)

23 In the Spring of 1993 the Pavonis contracted with an architect to prepare construction plans for a custom home on the selected building site for Five Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$5,500) (R at 921-22, Trial Tr , pp 100-01)

24 The Pavonis made numerous improvements to the property including, inter alia, installing utility lines that increased the value of the property (R at 923-24, 930-31, 933-37, 963, Trial Tr , pp 106-12, 133-38, 146-63, 264, Trial Exs 22, 23, 24, 25, 29)

25 In connection with resolving the Call lawsuit, Nielsen granted a right-of-way easement through the property and directly through the Pavoni's selected building site (R at 6, 924, 927, 929, 975-76, Trial Tr , pp 112-14, 315-19, 121-22, Def 's Trial Ex 9)

26 The Call easement occupied up to 2 acres of the Pavonis 20-acre property (R at 977, Trial Tr , pp 320-21)

27 The Call easement interfered with the Pavoni's ability to construct their home on their desired building site (R at 944, 967, Trial Tr , p 191)

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