1999

# Justin F. Pavoni and Kimberly A. Pavoni v. C. Michael Nielsen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the trial court's entry of directed verdict on the Indemnification Agreement because Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of coming forward with sufficient competent evidence to establish that they incurred damages arising out of the Call Litigation.

There is no evidence in the record that Plaintiffs ever made any demand of Nielsen to indemnify them for any specific damages they now claim as a result of the Call Litigation.

The evidence in the record is clear and uncontroverted that the improvements Plaintiffs made to the Lot they purchased from Nielsen were included in the sale of the Lot to Plaintiffs' subsequent buyer.

The evidence is also clear and uncontroverted that the engineering and architectural work product paid for by Plaintiffs in connection with their ownership of the Lot was included in the sale of the Lot to Plaintiffs' subsequent buyer.

There is no competent evidence that Plaintiffs incurred attorney's fees arising out of the Call Litigation in excess of the \$2,000 Nielsen voluntarily paid to Plaintiffs as

Nielsen's estimate of what Plaintiffs might have incurred in being advised with respect to the Call Litigation. Plaintiffs did not have their attorneys testify at trial as to the nature of the work they performed, and Plaintiffs did not even offer billing statements that would describe the nature of the legal work and whether the work was related to the Call Litigation or the enforcement action against Nielsen under the Indemnification Agreement, which would fall under the prevailing party attorney's fee provision of that agreement rather than give rise to a claim for indemnity under the agreement. In that connection, the only competent evidence pertaining to the legal work performed by the law firm of McMurray, McMurray, Dale & Parkinson is that the work was related to the action against Nielsen and not to the Call Litigation itself.

Finally, there is no competent evidence in the record that Plaintiffs were damaged by any alleged diminution in the value of the Lot as a result of the easement granted to the Calls in settlement of the Call Litigation just before Plaintiffs sold the Lot. Plaintiffs received the full appraised value of the Lot--which appraisal did not take into account the recently granted easement--less \$2,500 resulting from "splitting the difference" between the buyer's counteroffer and Plaintiffs' original offer, and not from the Call Easement. If anyone was damaged by any diminution in value, it was the buyer--who did not care about the easement--but certainly not the Plaintiffs.

This Court should affirm the trial court's entry of directed verdict on Plaintiffs' claim of breach of the Earnest Money Sales Agreement based on the abrogation clause

contained in that agreement. Although the evidence is controverted as to whether the promised gravel was installed and the driveway straightened, there is no dispute that the Earnest Money Sales Agreement contained an abrogation clause and that the promises regarding the gravel and driveway entrance were not included in the deed, which, under Utah law, is the final real estate contract. Mr. Pavoni testified at trial that he understood the abrogation clause. Execution and delivery of the deed served to abrogate the Earnest Money Sales Agreement, including the provisions regarding installation of additional 3-inch gravel and straightening the driveway entrance.

The attorneys' fee award entered by the Court was based on the prevailing party attorney's fee provision in the Indemnification Agreement. The award is challenged by Plaintiffs only on the basis that the motion for directed verdict under the Indemnification Agreement should not have been granted. If that directed verdict is affirmed, the attorneys' fee award shall stand. Contrary to Plaintiffs' contention in this appeal, reversal of the directed verdict under the Earnest Money Sales Agreement would have no impact whatsoever on the attorneys' fee award under the Indemnification Agreement.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm both directed verdicts and the attorneys' fee award entered under the Indemnification Agreement.

## ARGUMENT

### I. PLAINTIFFS HAVE FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE

The Plaintiffs have failed to properly marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's directed verdict against them. In its most recent pronouncement on motions for directed verdict, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

A directed verdict at the close of a plaintiff's case in chief assumes that the plaintiff has not met his or her burden of proof. Thus, "in reviewing a grant of a directed verdict, we view all facts and the inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Nay v. General Motors Corp., 850 P.2d 1260, 1261 (Utah 1993). "We reverse a directed verdict [only] when the evidence [so viewed] is sufficient to permit a reasonable jury to find for the nonmovant." Id. at 1263.

Gilbert v. Ince, 372 Utah Adv. Rep. 47 (July 20, 1999) (emphasis added).

In this case, although the Plaintiffs have attempted to point out all the evidence they presented that they believe would support a verdict in their favor, they have utterly failed to take any notice whatsoever of the contradictory evidence presented during their own case-in-chief that entirely undermined their claims. For instance, Plaintiffs point to the testimony of the Defendant, Mr. Nielsen, that the easement across Lot 3 may have diminished the value of the property by "possibly a couple thousand dollars." (Brief of Appellants at 20). They fail, however, to inform the Court that their own client, Mr. Pavoni, testified unequivocally that the \$2,500 difference between the \$285,000 appraised value of the property and the \$282,500 price for which the Pavonis sold the lot had nothing to do with the easement, but rather was the result of simply

“splitting the difference” between the \$285,000 asking price and the buyer’s \$280,000 initial counteroffer. (R. at 0963; Trial Tr. p.265-67). Thus, Plaintiffs’ own testimony, which Plaintiffs failed to marshal, proved that there was no diminution in value of the property due to the temporary, movable easement.

The trial court was convinced that, viewing all the evidence presented by Plaintiffs in their case-in-chief, and the evidence elicited on cross-examination, Plaintiffs did not come forward with sufficient evidence from which any reasonable jury could have found in their favor. Plaintiffs have painted a one-sided picture of what their own evidence showed, distorting the scintilla of favorable evidence they presented and ignoring the mountain of evidence brought forth during the Plaintiffs’ case-in-chief from their own witnesses that discredited their convoluted story. When all the evidence is looked at as a whole, it is clear that Plaintiffs’ case-in-chief could not have supported a jury verdict in their favor and thus the directed verdict against them was appropriate and should be upheld.

II. A DIRECTED VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFFS ON THEIR INDEMNIFICATION CLAIM IS PROPER BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD DOES NOT ESTABLISH THAT PLAINTIFFS WERE ENTITLED TO BE INDEMNIFIED

A. Standard of Review.

On appeal from a directed verdict, this Court should apply the same standard as that imposed by the trial court and is limited to the evidence contained in the record on appeal. Cerritos Trucking Co. v. Utah Venture No. 1, 645 P.2d 608 (Utah 1982)(same

rules that apply on trial level are applied on appeal for directed verdict); Wilderness Bldg. Systems, Inc. v. Chapman, 699 P.2d 766 (Utah 1985)(review is limited to evidence contained in record on appeal). Even considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the Plaintiffs, this Court still must find that the evidence contained in the record is sufficient to establish a prima facie case in favor of the Plaintiffs. Highland Const. Co. v. Union Pacific R. Co., 683 P.2d 1042, 1045 (Utah 1984).

A directed verdict is appropriate when the court is able to conclude, as a matter of law, that reasonable minds would not differ on the facts to be determined from the evidence presented, and that those facts do not support the claim presented. E.g., Cornia v. Wilcox, 898 P.2d 1379 (Utah 1995). “Motions for directed verdicts ... are often made *against* a party asserting a cause of action. When entered against a plaintiff, they amount to a determination that the plaintiff has failed to meet the burden of coming forward with sufficient evidence to sustain a jury verdict.” See, Gilbert v. Ince, 372 Utah Adv. Rep. 47 (July 20, 1999); DeBry v. Cascade Enterprises, 879 P.2d 1353, 1359 (Utah 1994) (citing Charles A. Wright & Arthur R. Miller, 9 Federal Practice and Procedure § 2535 (1971)).

The question in this appeal is not whether there is literally no evidence supporting the Plaintiffs’ claim for breach of the Indemnification Agreement but whether there is sufficient evidence upon which a reasonable jury could properly find a verdict for Plaintiffs on that claim. As discussed below, the evidence in the record is

insufficient to establish breach of the Indemnification Agreement. This Court, like the trial court below, can conclude appropriately that, based on the evidence in the record, there can be but one conclusion as to the verdict that reasonable persons could have reached--that the facts do not establish a claim for breach of contract.

B. Plaintiffs Failed to Establish Sufficient Evidence of Damages for Which Plaintiffs Were Entitled to Be Indemnified Under the Indemnification Agreement.

To establish a claim for breach of the Indemnification Agreement, Plaintiffs had the burden to establish that Nielsen failed to indemnify them “from and against any and all claims, demands, damages, losses, liens, liabilities, penalties, fines, costs and expenses (including attorney’s fees), if any, arising directly or indirectly from or out of, the lawsuit Civil No. 11110 [the Call Litigation] ....” The evidence in the record simply fails to establish any such claims, demands, damages, losses, liens, liabilities, penalties, fines, costs or expenses incurred by the Plaintiffs as a direct or indirect result of the Call litigation. Directed verdict on this claim, therefore, is justified.

Plaintiffs contend that the trial court, in granting directed verdict, ignored three ways in which they were allegedly damaged: (i) the survey, site plan and plans and specifications for the home Plaintiffs had intended to build on the lot, for which they had paid, were rendered useless by the Call Easement; (ii) existence of the Call Easement forced them to sell the Lot at less than the appraised value; and (iii) they incurred attorney’s fees related to the Call litigation and distinct from this lawsuit



against Nielsen for which they were not reimbursed. Analysis of the evidence in the record pertaining to each of those three damage claims demonstrates that Plaintiffs have failed to meet the burden of coming forward with sufficient evidence to sustain a jury verdict of damages. See Gilbert v. Ince, supra; DeBry v. Cascade Enterprises, supra.

1. The Engineering and Architectural Work Was Included as Part of Plaintiffs' Subsequent Sale of the Lot and Did Not Constitute Damages Incurred by Plaintiffs

Although Plaintiffs introduced extensive evidence at trial that they spent several thousand dollars improving the Lot, contending initially at trial that those expenditures constituted damages under the Indemnification Agreement, they ultimately admitted at trial that the price they received when they sold the Lot included the property and all of the improvements. (R. at 963; Trial Tr. p. 266.) Apparently, they now concede that they were not entitled to reimbursement for such expenses, and do not contend on appeal that those improvements are part of their claim of breach of the Indemnification Agreement.

Moreover, there is no evidence in the record that the engineering and architectural work Plaintiffs paid for in connection with the Lot was rendered useless by the Call Litigation. While Plaintiffs claim repeatedly throughout the Brief of Appellants that the engineering and architectural work was “rendered useless” by the Call Easement (Brief of Appellant at 7, 13, 15, 18 and 24), there is no testimony in the

record to support that oft-repeated claim.<sup>6</sup> Indeed, no witness testified that such work was rendered useless by the Call Litigation. On the contrary, the evidence in the record is undisputed that the product of this work (the survey and house plans and specifications) was explicitly made part of the sale of the lot. See Trial Exhibit D-7 (Plaintiffs' Addendum at Tab 32). The Addendum to the Real Estate Purchase Contract between Plaintiffs and the buyers of the Lot clearly required Plaintiffs, as part of the sale, to deliver the engineering work (survey and utility specifications) to the buyers and to provide the home plans and specifications to the buyers as well. Id. While Mr. Pavoni testified that the sales price was not increased as a result of delivering the survey and utility specifications (R. at 968; Trial Tr. pp. 284-85), that testimony does not establish or create an inference in any way that the Call Litigation rendered that work useless, resulting in damage to the Plaintiffs. Indeed, a requirement to convey these items as part of the sale creates, if anything, an inference of value--not the opposite.

2. The Evidence Is Not Sufficient to Establish that Nielsen Failed to Indemnify Plaintiffs for Damages Under the Indemnification Agreement Based on Attorneys' Fees

The Indemnification Agreement required Nielsen to indemnify Plaintiffs for their

---

<sup>6</sup> Indeed, Plaintiffs do not cite in their brief to any such testimony in the record. Plaintiffs' cite to the record in support of the allegation in Plaintiffs' Statement of the Facts that this work was rendered useless is only to Mr. Pavoni's testimony (Trial Tr. pp. 284-85) that the sales price of the Lot when Plaintiffs subsequently sold the Lot in 1994 was not increased to reflect the obligation to deliver the survey and utility specifications as part of the sale.

attorney's fees, "if any, arising directly or indirectly from or out of, the lawsuit Civil No. 11110 [the Call Litigation]." Trial Exhibit P-4 (Plaintiff's Addendum at Tab 19). The evidence in the record is simply not sufficient to establish that Nielsen breached the Indemnification Agreement based on the alleged failure to pay attorney's fees incurred by Plaintiffs arising out of the Call Litigation.

There is no evidence in the record that Plaintiffs made any demand that Nielsen indemnify them for any legal fees they allegedly incurred arising out of the Call litigation. Similarly, there is no evidence that Plaintiffs ever provided Nielsen with any statement of legal fees they allegedly incurred arising out of the Call Litigation. There is no evidence, therefore, that Nielsen failed to indemnify Plaintiffs pursuant to any request for indemnification for attorney's fees incurred in connection with the Call Litigation.

The only evidence in this regard is communication from Nielsen's attorney and from Nielsen himself voluntarily offering to pay any such attorney's fees. In that connection, Nielsen's attorney, Mr. Harper, communicated as follows through a letter dated July 11, 1994, to the attorney retained by Plaintiffs to commence a lawsuit against Mr. Nielsen under the Indemnification Agreement:

It is true that Mr. Nielsen offered to pay the expenses of Eric Schifferli to represent the Pavonis' interests in the Call litigation. Mr. Nielsen intends to do that. It is not true that Mr. Nielsen has offered to pay the Pavonis' attorneys' fees to evaluate and prosecute a lawsuit against him, i.e., the fees they are incurring as a result of Mr. Schifferli turning the matter over to litigation counsel for purposes of pursuing claims against Mr. Nielsen. Moreover, Mr. Nielsen has not agreed to pay attorneys' fees regarding extraneous issues such as

the gravel issue.

Trial Exhibit P-38, p. 3 (Plaintiffs' Addendum at Tab 29)(emphasis added). Nielsen followed up that communication by providing Plaintiffs with a check dated July 26, 1999, in the amount of \$2,000 for "Legal Fees—Call litigation," with a separate, accompanying handwritten note stating:

Justin,

I don't know what Eric's fees were. This is a guess, if I owe you more on Eric's bill then drop me a note.

Mike

Trial Exhibit P-6 (Plaintiffs' Addendum at Tab 20). There is no evidence that Plaintiffs ever did provide Nielsen with any statement(s) of legal fees from their attorneys or informed Nielsen of the amount Plaintiffs claimed they were owed in attorney's fees. Indeed, the only billing statement of legal fees in the record is one for \$369.92, and while that statement contains a description of legal work apparently relating to the Call Litigation, it also patently describes legal work wholly unrelated to the Call Litigation. See Trial Exhibit P-35A (Plaintiffs' Addendum at Tab 28). Nevertheless, the record is clear that Nielsen paid \$2,000 in attorney's fees under the Indemnification Agreement even without any demand to indemnify Plaintiffs for any particular amount.

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